
 

 

CITY OF CORVALLIS 
MINUTES OF THE CIVIC BEAUTIFICATION AND URBAN FORESTRY 

COMMISSION 
MAY 12, 2011 

 
Attendance 
Angelica Rehkugler- Chair 
Helen Ellis 
Ross Parkerson 
Tim Brewer 
Dan Bregar 
Joel Hirsch, Council Liaison 
 
Absent/Excused 
Kent Daniels, Vice Chair 
Bill Johnson 
Joe Majeski, OSU Liaison 
Larry Passmore 

 
Staff 
Dave Phillips, Park Operations Supervisor 
Becky Merja, Urban Forester 
Mark Lindgren, Recorder 
 
Visitors 
Deb Curtis 
Stewart Wershow 
Heather Reed, OSU Forestry student 
 
 

 
SUMMARY OF DISCUSSION 
 

 
Agenda Item 

 
Information 

Only 

 
Held for  

Further  

Review 

 
Recommendations 

 
II.  Review of Minutes 

       
      X 

  

III. Visitors’ Propositions 
 

 
      X 

  

IV. Fall Garden Tour       X   

V. Staff Reports       X   

VI. CBUF Endowment & Grant 
Program 

  Motion passed to not spend grant funds this year. 

VII. City Council/ OSU Liaison 
Reports  

 
       X 

  
 

VIII. Committee Reports       X   
IX. Commission Member Reports       X   
X. Beautification Awards 
 

      X   

XI. 2011 Accomplishments        X   
XII. Majestic Tree Program        X   
 
XIII. Adjournment 

 
       X 

  
The next CBUF meeting will be at 8 a.m. June 9, 2011, at the 
Parks and Rec Conference Room. 

 
CONTENT OF DISCUSSION 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER:  Chair Rehkugler called the meeting to order at 8:00 a.m.  
 

II. REVIEW OF MINUTES.  Ross Parkerson moved and Dan Bregar seconded to approve April 14, 2011 
minutes as presented; motion passed.  

 



Minutes of Civic Beautification and Urban Forestry Commission, May 12, 2011 Page 2 

 

III. VISITORS’ PROPOSITIONS.  None. 

IV. 

f Corvallis” as a fall fundraiser for Parks and Recreation and asked CBUF for its input on nominations.  

 
at 

 said she understood that there was a requirement for front yard trees; Parkerson replied there was 
ot.  

 
’t. 

 

 
ber 

portant; Saturdays are best. Rehkugler said it was a great idea and was glad Curtis was doing it.  

V. 

 
at signage pedestals were in bad shape; Phillips said they had been removed and were in storage.  

 

are currently no funds. Habitat for Humanity was 
terested in using the existing pavers.  

be 

yone 
ree in a central park. Phillips noted that benches with plaques age and may become 

angerous.  

 

 
FALL GARDEN TOUR. 
Deb Curtis related that the Sustainability Coalition Northwest Earth Institute has conducted backyard 
tours for a number of years, but it is no longer able to do so and is looking for someone else to take the 
project on. She felt it was a perfect role for Parks and Recreation and is proposing calling it “Backyards 
o
 
Parkerson suggested Curtis attend various garden club meetings. Bregar asked what the criteria would
be; Curtis replied she had none so far. She noted that the Northwest Earth Institute had required th
backyards be organic; however, she was not proposing that, since there may be different ways to 
approach sustainability. Parkerson suggested Curtis use CBUF’s front yard criteria as a starting point. 
Curtis
n
 
Rehkugler said it was a great idea and suggested several members meet with Curtis to avoid reinventing
the wheel, as well as talking to Maureen (who previously ran the tours) about what worked and didn
Ellis asked whether it would be limited to within city limits; Curtis replied she was thinking about 
expanding it beyond that. She was thinking of having tours of between two and four backyards in a 
neighborhood to facilitate people parking and walking, for a total of eight to ten. Ellis noted that the
Corvallis Garden Club has done garden tours for years and it is very profitable if it is done well; it 
requires many volunteers; she offered to help plan. Rochefort related that some neighbors on her block
held tours and it was fairly successful. Curtis related she was considering the Saturdays of Septem
17 or October 1. Ellis said choosing the right weather and a day without other major conflicts is 
im
 
STAFF REPORTS. 
Park Operations Supervisor Dave Phillips related that staff are very busy preparing for the Helen M. 
Berg Plaza naming event, taking place at 3:30 p.m. on May 14, at the (formerly) Jackson Plaza at 1st 
Street and Jackson on Riverfront Commemorative Park.  There is a 6’ tall memorial stone. Ellis said
th
 
Planner Rochefort related that the State has contacted her regarding releasing grant funds for the Art 
Center Plaza renovation; once they arrive, she will seek to schedule the work to avoid major events. She 
is considering Japanese Maples with larger tree wells, and better alignment with benches, with a couple
large-stature trees on the edge. She noted the grant doesn’t cover trees. Artwork will be replaced after 
construction. New benches would be nice but there 
in
 
Merja said that in the past there has been a gift book for people interested in memorials; that could 
put on the web. Phillips said that original donors could be contacted to see if they are interested in 
funding replacements. Rochefort cautioned that the memorial program can overwhelm staff; ever
wants a big t
d
 
Rochefort related that there was an accident during the Spring Garden Festival relating to the poor 
condition of plaza pavers. Parkerson asked how long construction would take; Rochefort replied that it 
was uncertain. It is the plaza between the Art Center and Central Park. Pavers have lifted over time and
become a tripping hazard. Since they are no longer available, missing pavers have been replaced with 



Minutes of Civic Beautification and Urban Forestry Commission, May 12, 2011 Page 3 

 

oncrete; there have been a number of tripping accidents. They were originally installed in 1978. Merja 

ershow said when donations are set up, donors sign a document that gives it as property to the city.  

l be moved forward this year, wrapping up at the PNARB July 21 
eeting. She asked for a CBUF volunteer to serve on a subcommittee to review proposals; Bregar said 

he highlighted pedestrian crossing plantings on Circle Boulevard; she designed them with showy but 

n 

s poorly advertised, with little 
formation on the date available on the web; Merja noted the date was changed. Merja said the Spring 

he related staff have been working on implementing the sustainability fees and how to contract tree 
am.  

he related attending an event in Reno set on a channelized area of the Truckee River modified for 
 an area of Corvallis.  

VI. 

UF 
t 

evious minutes from 1999 until now; tracked CBUF Civic Beautification Fund 
terest from 1999 to the end of FY 2005, when that stopped; and CBUF Endowment interest from 

heet 

uch was spent. Rochefort added that 
ack then CBUF funded almost all viable requests. Phillips said he’d reviewed all the projects that were 

 

 
 Council and City 

c
said as trees were moved, undulations were created in pavers covering the planting sites. 
 
W
Rochefort said the kiosk at the Rose Garden lists donor names.  
 
Rochefort stated that the CIP wil
m
he was available early in June.  
 
S
drought-tolerant, short plants.  
 
Urban Forester Becky Merja said Arbor Day celebrations marked the 9th Tree City USA Year and the 
seventh Growth Award. Staffer John Hinkle wrote a Dr. Seuss-based Lorax Arbor Day proclamatio
and so the Mayor, the City Manager and Director Emery wore “Cat in the Hat” hats. Earth Faire was 
later in the month, with attendance lower this year; Bregar felt it wa
in
Garden Festival was well attended; she thanked booth volunteers.  
 
S
work. Nine arborists attended a meeting and their questions and concerns helped her shape the progr
 
S
kayak events. She highlighted possible tree removals in
 
CBUF ENDOWMENT AND GRANT PROGRAM. 
Phillips said there was some confusion during the previous discussion on the issue; he highlighted his 
memo and spreadsheet in the packet, saying they were intended to clarify matters. He noted the CB
Endowment and the Civic Beautification Fund were different and have different rules. He related tha
he went through pr
in
FY05-06 to now.  
 
He highlighted the spreadsheet, which was broken down into two sections. The top of the spreads
records the interest the Civic Beautification Fund made in previous years. The difference between the 
CBUF Endowment and the Civic Beautification Fund is that the resolution to use one half of the 
interest that created the CBUF Endowment was not in effect before 2005. Between 1999 and 2005 the 
Civic Beautification Fund made interest that went into the account, grant programs were run, and there 
were no restrictions on use of interest. Rehkugler asked whether there were rules on how much could be 
spent; Phillips replied the enabling ordinance didn’t restrict how m
b
funded; he said they were all valid projects and met the criteria.  
 
Phillips said the language that created the Endowment, Resolution 2005-012, only says that half the 
annual interest of the CBUF Endowment goes into the grant funding part of the budget. Neither the 
ordinance nor the resolution says that that money must be spent. The intent of the resolution is to grow
the endowment and the principle has grown. Ellis said CBUF said if the commission wants to spend 
money, it can; and if it thinks it shouldn’t, it doesn’t have to. Phillips says CBUF has the authority to
determine how much of the money it spends. It must report the spending to the City



Minutes of Civic Beautification and Urban Forestry Commission, May 12, 2011 Page 4 

 

anager, as it has been doing. Ellis noted that the commission must do it in advance, in order to go 

 be 

, 
forward stays in the Endowment to grow the Endowment to $100,000; 

fter that, all the annual interest could be used for annual grants. Prior to 2005, there was no language 

 

ther 
the criteria. The writers of the ordinance and the 

solution failed to say, “You can’t spend the principal”. Phillips added that there is no language 

ey 

t by not spending the money it 
ets the account closer to the $100,000 point more quickly. She added that there was not a rule that the 

rol over 
is. At a recent Administrative Services Committee meeting, there was discussion of making changes 

the City set up the ordinance. Phillips said now 
e only question is whether CBUF chooses to give a grant this year. Hirsch added that the commission 

s 
; 

 1999 
ntil now and hadn’t found anything yet. Phillips suggested CBUF nail this down at a meeting soon; 

M
through the budget process; Phillips concurred; it must use its criteria for projects.  
 
Bregar said there was currently $3,400 in the grant account, of which some or all could potentially
spent this year if the commission wished; Phillips replied that if you look at it from the Endowment 
forward (2005), then the commission has not spent $3,400 that it could have spent. He suggested 
looking at it from the perspective of 2005 forward. Rehkugler said it was her understanding that the 
commission could not spend more than half the interest; Phillips replied that as it was explained to him
half of the interest from FY05 
a
regarding growing the Fund.  
 
Phillips said the original ordinance gives Civic Beautification Commission the authority to spend the
funds as it saw fit; there were no limits on the how much it could spend.  Bregar said we can all agree 
that the intent was to grow the principle to $100,000 without spending it down, which is why it was 
separated into two separate accounts, with one which should be considered untouchable and the o
used to spend on awarding grants as long as they meet 
re
specifying how long it might take to get to $100,000.  
 
Rehkugler asked if interest was being earned on unexpended funds; Rochefort replied that the mon
spent on the grant program is in Allocations, not in real dollars. Phillips clarified that the only account 
is the Endowment account; it is all earning interest. Bregar said the actual account would be over 
$90,000 because it also includes unexpended funds. Rehkugler said tha
g
commission can’t fundraise in order to more quickly get to $100,000.  
 
Ellis related that early on, by inserting a request in water bills the fund quickly grew from $10,000 to 
almost $80,000; however, that is not done anymore. Bregar asked if the group had any authority to 
invest at a higher rate of interest; Stewart Wershow clarified that the Financial Department must invest 
in a fiduciarily responsible manner and it chooses to do so in this manner; CBUF has no cont
th
to financial policies that involve endowments; these changes may have already been made.  
 
Merja said the City may only invest in a very safe manner; it is not always the best rate and is quite a 
low interest rate. She related that the Garden Club had decided the City would provide better 
management and record keeping for the endowment. Ellis added the club then felt it had more money 
that it could handle as a non-profit, so it chose to have 
th
could further frame the language regarding the funds. 
 
Rehkugler said one of the CBUF goals was long-term fundraising, but this was never fleshed out; she 
suggested setting up a subcommittee to work on this. Wershow said he had heard this discussion before 
when he served as Liaison; he suggested going through CBUF minutes first; there may already be rule
set by CBUF on how to use the money, separate from the ordinance, which sets up operational bylaws
CBUF is bound by those past motions. Phillips related that he had looked at those minutes from
u
Rehkugler concurred. Merja related that CBUF had decided to not to spend the funds last year. 
 



Minutes of Civic Beautification and Urban Forestry Commission, May 12, 2011 Page 5 

 

rkerson seconded; motion passed. Commissioners 

VII. 

irector Steve Rogers and the Chief of Police announced 
eir retirements. The Budget Commission Monday was presented with a balanced budget based on the 

fail, with the Aquatic Center and the Senior Center closed. It deliberates 

VIII. COMMITTEE REPORTS.   
adn’t met; it has recently focused its efforts on booths for 

IX. 
rson highlighted Historic Preservation Month events in May; there is an exhibit and 

rochures at the library. The Historic Preservation Awards ceremony will be held May 21 at the 
lated that the Whiteside Theater will open its doors for tours this 

X. 
ehkugler said nominations from commissioners (ideally, four per ward) were due today; she now had 

aid that May 27 is the latest that she can get the awards certificates 

XI. 
ehkugler said she’d like to generally do this review every January. She distributed her list for review; 

ted including it as a booth display. Rehkugler said the next booth 

XII. 
erja related that she has been approached repeatedly over the years about setting up a heritage tree 

n, 

 Council 

such a program and 
vited representatives from cities that were interested in setting up a program. The CBUF 

he 

 a 
nerations. 

egarding where the program should be housed, it could be in the city or county, a historical society or 

r 
ticultural value; historic; recognized by virtue of age; a landmark; or be a collection of trees, 

Ellis moved to not spend grant funds this year; Pa
agreed to revisit the subject next month. 
 
CITY COUNCIL/OSU LIAISON REPORTS. 
City Council Liaison Joel Hirsch related that the City Manager is retiring in June; the search for his 
replacement is underway. Also, Public Works D
th
assumption that the levy would 
on May 19. His Ward 6 meeting is on May 17.  
 

Rehkugler noted the Education Committee h
several events. Merja related the P/O/P committee hadn’t met. 
 
COMMISSION MEMBER REPORTS.   
Ross Parke
b
Lewisburg Grange at 4:30 p.m. He re
Saturday.  
 
BEAUTIFICATION AWARDS.   
R
them from most members. Merja s
printed and distributed. Tim Brewer will submit business nominations. 
 
2010 ACCOMPLISHMENTS.   
R
Parkerson found it helpful and sugges
displays would be the Farmers Market and then the Fall Festival. 
 
MAJESTIC TREE PROGRAM.   
M
program for Corvallis. Since the last presentation was so long ago, with many new members since the
she suggested showing it again and getting planning going again.  
 
She highlighted that she and Rehkugler attended a workshop by the Travel and Information
(TIC). The TIC was the first to set up such a statewide program in the US- the Oregon Heritage Tree 
Program. The workshop featured presenters from cities that had already set up by 
in
subcommittee hasn’t yet addressed all the issues: What is the purpose of the program; where should t
program be housed; who are the stakeholders/partners; and what are the criteria.  
 
The purpose of the program is to connect citizens of all ages with nature; preserve history and tell
story; enhance a sense of place; and encourage stewardship of significant trees for future ge
R
a non-profit. Stakeholders include CBUF; PNARB; Planning Department; the Historic Resource 
Commission, PreservationWorks; local gardening clubs; local arborists; and service clubs. 
 
Regarding the selection criteria, concerns generally included specimens of exceptional size, form o
rarity; hor



Minutes of Civic Beautification and Urban Forestry Commission, May 12, 2011 Page 6 

 

uch as a notable grove. Other criteria could be whether it is visible from the public right of way; 

egarding regulating tree cutting and maintenance, it depends on what the community will support. 

 of 

etermined who will review nominations; public relations and property owner notification; researching 

as Majestic Trees, to take advantage of the Majestic Theater’s 100-Year 
nniversary celebrations during 2013. Between now and then much planning must be done, getting 

uggested 

hip and care of significant trees for future generations”. Merja highlighted 
aterials developed by the state group. She suggested getting more tips from other Oregon 

 often finds people moving here from elsewhere who have no idea what their new 
ees are in their yard, then they want to have them removed when the first tree-related issue comes up; 

 

 to 
il as the program develops. Wershow encouraged getting feedback and direction from 

e Council early on; Hirsch agreed on the importance of Council buy-in. Ellis volunteered to help and 

s 
 rules developed years ago. There are heritage trees 

cated on 9  Street, which would be removed to accommodate bike lanes. There will be a new Public 
ight of way. Wershow said the Council 

had approved the project at its last meeting. 
 

XIII. ADJOURNMENT: The meeting adjourned at 9:58 A.M. 

s
exceptional diameter, height or age of the tree; whether it is one of a kind or unique or old for the 
species.  
 
R
Most wanted the program to be voluntary with homeowners accepting or rejecting nomination. She 
noted that liability comes along with regulation. 
 
Regarding staffing needs, people’s time will be needed to facilitate development and implementation
the program; it is included in the objectives of the Urban Forestry Management Plan. It needs to be 
d
and writing up tree information; designing and printing brochures, press releases and articles for the 
newspaper; ordering plaques or simply releasing GPS information, such as has been done at OSU. 
 
Merja said what to call the program was hotly debated previously. Rehkugler said the leading name was 
Heritage Trees; others included Legacy Trees; and Outstanding Community Trees. She related that 
Vicki Wills’ suggestion w
a
stakeholder feedback and building support. A plan must be done to involve school kids. She s
creating a subcommittee. 
 
Hirsch said he hadn’t seen anything about protecting trees; Merja replied there was a goal of 
“encourage stewards
m
communities with these programs. She suggested starting it as a city program and then expanding it to 
include the county.  
 
Brewer related that he
tr
he suggested getting information out to realtors about tree-resources; new people can be overwhelmed.
Members concurred. 
 
Merja said it seemed to be appropriate for the Education and Outreach Subcommittee to take the lead 
and suggested other commissioners that were interested to contact her. She will get notes from previous 
meetings to distribute to other stakeholders. Parkerson offered his help and said there were many 
possible candidates for heritage trees. Merja said Vicki Wills may wish to volunteer. Hirsch offered
update the Counc
th
will serve as liaison to garden clubs. Rochefort said the subcommittee needed expertise from both 
subcommittees.  
 
Wershow related he’d been following proposals for bike lanes on 9th Street and the Highway 34 bypas
project. A problem is that BPAC must follow

thlo
Works Director; that agency will have impact on trees in the r


